

[image: Cover]



Also by Ranulph Fiennes

Non-Fiction

A Talent for Trouble

Ice Fall in Norway

The Headless Valley

Where Soldiers Fear to Tread

Hell on Ice

To the Ends of the Earth

Bothie the Polar Dog (with Virginia Fiennes)

Living Dangerously

Atlantis of the Sands

Mind Over Matter

Fit for Life

Beyond the Limits

Captain Scott: The Biography

Mad, Bad & Dangerous to Know

Mad Dogs and Englishmen

My Heroes

Fiction

Killer Elite

The Sett



About the author


Sir Ranulph Fiennes was the first man to reach both poles by surface travel and the first to cross the Antarctic Continent unsupported. In the 1960s he was removed from the SAS Regiment for misuse of explosives but, joining the army of the Sultan of Oman, received that country’s Bravery Medal on active service in 1971. He is the only person yet to have been awarded two clasps to the Polar medal for both Antarctic and the Arctic regions. Fiennes has led over 30 expeditions including the first polar circumnavigation of the Earth, and in 2003 he ran seven marathons in seven days on seven continents in aid of the British Heart Foundation.


In 1993 Her Majesty the Queen awarded Fiennes the Order of the British Empire (OBE) because, on the way to breaking records, he has raised over £14 million for charity. He was named Best Sportsman in the 2007 ITV Great Briton Awards and in 2009 he became the oldest Briton to reach the summit of Everest.




THE SECRET HUNTERS


Ranulph Fiennes


[image: Logo Missing]


www.hodder.co.uk




First published in Great Britain in 2001


by Little, Brown and Company


First published by Time Warner Paperbacks in 2002


First published in 2012 by Hodder & Stoughton


An Hachette UK company


Copyright © Ranulph Fiennes 2001


The right of Ranulph Fiennes to be identified as the Author of the Work has been asserted by him in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.


All rights reserved.


No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means without the prior written permission of the publisher, nor be otherwise circulated in any form of binding or cover other than that in which it is published and without a similar condition being imposed on the subsequent purchaser.


All characters in this publication are fictitious and any resemblance to real persons, living or dead is purely coincidental.


A CIP catalogue record for this title is available from the British Library


ISBN 978 1 444 75725 5


Hodder & Stoughton Ltd


338 Euston Road


London NW1 3BH


www.hodder.co.uk



[image: Image Missing]


[image: Image Missing]


The story is fictional but is set against a factual background, and any similarity between fictional characters and real people is coincidental.



1


14 December 1993. We are stuck here on this remote and ice-girded coastline with plenty of food and a reasonable hope that, when summer comes, a yacht or tourist ship will visit and rescue us. We must stay mentally active to keep our spirits up. Thuy is so good-natured and easy. She has encouraged me to write this; my life story. When we are rescued I will check out the names and details, and find a publisher. I have always meant to bear witness to my family’s time of terror and to my quest for justice, as nobody else can. I think I had best start back in 1975 – the turning point.


I was born in war-torn Germany in 1939, and grew up with the belief that RAF fire-bombs had killed all my family save my Aunt Ruth, who emigrated to Canada with me in 1946. I passed a happy childhood in a suburb of Ottawa and became a freelance welfare worker, specialising in the care of refugee children, often in trouble spots.


During my first working visit to Cambodia, I lived in a small village near Phnom Penh. We treated poor people at a simple surgery set up by the French mission who paid my expenses. The Cambodians were gentle, lovely folk, and I fell for Sinoy Yan, whose black hair shone like the Mekong in moonlight. She was married to a major in the Cambodian Army, which for three years had fought a bitter civil war with the Communist Khmer Rouge.


On free afternoons, I would meet Sinoy by an old coconut tree near the river. The water was clear where we swam, and the sand warm. In the twilight, when a fresh breeze kept the insects away, we lay naked together and listened to the mango and banana trees outside the village whispering in the wind.


Some months later, on New Year’s Day 1975, I met up with Sinoy at a karaoke bar in Phnom Penh. She had telephoned out of the blue demanding to see me urgently but giving no explanation. I was surprised as she had tearfully decided to end our relationship the previous month when her husband had come back from the front missing a leg.


She was wearing a fashionable blue mini-skirt which reminded me of the wonders of her body. Sinoy, however, was definitely not thinking of sex. She loved me, she said, and this was her only chance to warn me to leave Cambodia at once as Phnom Penh would be overrun by the Khmer Rouge by the end of the week. Her twin brother, Hong, was a Khmer Rouge leader, and he had arrived at her house the previous night to warn her to save herself while she still could. He had told her that, like all families of civil servants, she was on the death list of Angka.


‘Who is Angka?’ I asked her.


‘The faceless group who control the PCK, the Parti Communiste Khmer.’


‘And who are the PCK?’


She shook her head. ‘They are extreme Communists who have eliminated most rival leadership factions. Their tactics are death and their strategy is murder. Even my brother fears them for he is an urban Communist.’


‘What’s wrong with that?’ I was confused. ‘Marx, Stalin and Lenin were all urbanists.’


‘The PCK believe only in peasant power. They will kill all civil servants, intellectuals and city-dwellers. Outside Phnom Penh the process is already underway.’


A sprig of hibiscus nestled by Sinoy’s ear where her hair snaked back. Its fragrance made me think of our days of blue skies and white sand by the Mekong. The PCK were just Cambodians, I reflected, and I knew Cambodians as gentle, lovely folk.


Sinoy’s delicate fingers reached across the table for my arm. ‘I will tell you something you must not pass on or my brother will die. I tell you only so that you will know you must go now. Tomorrow may be too late. I would come too, but my place is beside my husband and he will not leave.’


She leaned closer across the table, and I felt a twinge of regret at the memory of her dark-nippled breasts.


‘Hong has come to Phnom Penh to warn the army, through my husband, of the major Communist offensive that will start tomorrow. He is disillusioned with the PCK because of what he has witnessed in the regions they already control. They divide people into “old” or “new”. All “new” people are to be wiped out through death or slave labour. Only “old” people – peasants, villagers and uneducated farmers – are “correct”. These are the types they make into leaders and managers. They teach them to hunt and destroy “new” people. They train them to suspect each other too, to hate and to cheat, to betray relatives and friends.


‘Hong’s men wear black uniforms with red kramas on their heads like the Apache warriors in John Wayne movies. They boast about their killings. Hong says Angka has a list of who to suspect and who to kill. Babies and children and women are to be treated like grown men. PCK cadres are to kill people from any town: merchants, police, poets, clever people, students, tailors, monks, doctors, teachers, people wearing spectacles or carrying books. Also businessmen, traders, rich farmers, landowners and people who speak a foreign language.’


Sinoy laughed, a bitter sound. ‘That means you and me and everyone we know. All of us are on the list to die. Hong says Angka warn their cadres that these enemies will try to hide, so the PCK must watch for behaviour signs which will give away the guilty. These include people who are too popular, lazy, troublesome, clever, bold, individualistic, soft-fingered, considerate or loving.’


I knew Sinoy was incapable of lying to me or to anyone else. She was telling me all this purely to persuade me to flee Cambodia, and had no ulterior motive. But the PCK were just people like Sinoy’s brother. They were country folk who lived in a beautiful paradise where the pace of life was slow and courteous, as it had been for centuries.


Sinoy must have seen my doubtful frown. ‘Angka,’ she pressed me, ‘teaches not to kill with bullets, as those must be saved for battle. They favour the old way of vay choul whereby their soldiers beat in the “new” person’s skull and vertebrae with a field hoe. All peasants have hoes.’


She paused to sip her drink, and to check that her words were sinking in. They were.


‘Hong says he has seen great cruelties but that Angka executes those who show repulsion at such acts. People to be butchered must first dig churn-sized holes then kneel by them. When they finish their pits, soldiers will come to crack their skulls and kick them into the holes. Others come and stomp them down. These vay choul victims are blessed with luck. The less lucky are tied up and thrown into deep mud, hanged slowly, boiled in pots, or raped and burned. Babies are used for football or knife practice. Children must kill parents. This is the way of Angka, the monster that will be here tomorrow. I love you Derek, and you must go today.’


‘How can I go, knowing that you will stay and be killed? Surely you can come too. There is nothing to stop you. You have cousins in New York—’


Sinoy put her hand over my mouth. ‘You go now. If I can change my husband’s mind, we will come soon. I promise. You cannot help me by staying here.’


I did leave Phnom Penh with help from my charity employers, for there was a general exodus, and Sinoy’s prediction did prove partly correct. A major attack was launched by 50,000 Khmer Rouge on 8 January, but somehow the army held on for a year before finally yielding. Sinoy and many others did escape the killing fields of Angka, but a million Cambodians were not so lucky. They perished at the hands of their fellow countrymen and for five long years the paradise that I remembered became a living hell.


At the time, I felt sure that the horror of Angka was a one-off, an aberration. In Ottawa, where my loving Aunt Ruth had brought me up, I had known only kindness and charity, tolerance and understanding. Since leaving school in 1957 and training at college for a year to be a social worker, my innate faith in the goodness of humanity had taken only a few minor knocks, especially on postings to Africa. I was thirty-five at the time of Sinoy’s revelations about Angka in the karaoke bar, and her words served as a warning of what was to come.


The polar wind cut knife-like through our Ottawa suburb of Nepean that January of 1975. The cosy little apartment I shared with Aunt Ruth was the only home I knew.


‘I always thought that one day,’ my aunt admonished, ‘you would be a big man in business, like your grandfather. But no, Traume sind Schaume, dreams are bubbles. You’re too keen on helping others to make good for yourself.’ Aunt Ruth loved to scold me. At 65 her mind was razor-sharp, honed by her avid reading of anything and everything to do with history which she ordered through the local library.


‘What I do is your fault, Auntie. You fixed my morals and my leanings long before I was old enough to think straight.’


She chuckled as she limped across the spotless but threadbare carpet. All the toes on one of her feet and three on the other were missing. I had long since given up asking her about her toes. Her stock response was, ‘Don’t look at the past. It is usually sad. Only memories and shadows.’


We had come from Germany, the Communist bit; that much I knew. A handsome Canadian truck driver, whom I had always known as Uncle Pete, had brought us both to Ottawa in 1946 when he was demobbed from the US Army. My first clear memory was as a six-year-old being held high by Uncle Pete as our ship berthed at Halifax.


Aunt Ruth was in remission from breast cancer, and for the past 18 months she had stayed well. It was clear she remembered Germany with both longing and pain. She would tell me how beautiful she and my mother had been in their youth. Her own beauty had never quite faded, but she had always smoked heavily which, along with the deep reservoir of grief and fear never far from the surface, had lined her face and buried her sparkle.


There were other clues to our past if you looked hard enough. Aunt Ruth never slept well. For as long as I could remember she had suffered from nightmares, calling out from her nocturnal terrors and needing sleeping pills to rest her weary mind. She very rarely talked about our past, her schooldays, where she had travelled, the escapades of her friends or even of her own sister, my mother. If ever I tried to prompt her she would retreat into silence and the pain in her eyes would hurt me, so I learned not to ask questions.


When I told her about Sinoy and her horror stories about the Angka, my aunt showed a familiar reluctance to talk on such a subject or even to listen. ‘Where do you go next?’ she asked, to close the topic.


‘I have a three-week project in the North West Territories starting on Monday.’


She flinched imperceptibly, as was always the case when I announced I was soon to leave home.


‘But you have only just got back from those schreckliche Khmers,’ she murmured.


The next week, when the cab arrived to take me to the airport, Aunt Ruth gave me a pair of knee-high, white woolly socks with the red outline of a maple leaf on each turn-over. ‘To keep you warm.’ She hugged me, her head just reaching my chest. ‘And you watch out for yourself with all those Eskimit Menschen.’


‘Inuit,’ I corrected her. ‘And don’t worry. It’ll be a cinch after Cambodia. I’ll write when I’ve settled in. I’ll be back in three weeks.’


The cab driver was from Ghana so we talked about Africa. We passed along Foxhill Way and out of Nepean. My home town had been just a village when Uncle Pete, with help from Wartime Housing and Veterans’ Affairs, had taken a rather poky little soapbox house just off Merivale Road in 1949. The previous three years we had squatted, as had many other returned vets, in one of the tourist cabins along the Prescott Highway. Uncle Pete had found good work at the McClelland door factory and later with Canada Post, while my aunt’s life had revolved around my schooling and forcing the past from her mind.


In the mid-1950s we bought our house from the Crown. I progressed to Nepean High from Merivale School, and finally, largely thanks to Uncle Pete’s veteran status, I graduated to Carleton University. Academia did not enthuse me but, for a while, I was among the top dozen cross-country skiers in Ontario.


After finishing college in 1958, I had spent a year settling Aunt Ruth into a well-appointed apartment in a more suitable part of Nepean which had grown by then into a suburb of the capital. Just before the move, Uncle Pete had died unexpectedly of a heart attack, so I had taken a fill-in job at the local Pepsi bottling plant. Preferring to make use of my social work skills however, I had quickly switched to a part-time paid job caring for children at a Catholic-run orphanage. I stuck at this on and off until the late ’60s, when the government-sponsored Children’s Aid Society took over and the policy of child placement with foster families closed down the orphanages throughout Ontario.


To supplement my aunt’s state pension, I always sent a part of my wages back to her bank account. This seldom amounted to much since many of the jobs I took paid expenses only, but then I had no children and no expensive habits to service, and all my travel, food and accommodation were provided by the charities or welfare agencies.


Until 1974, I could see no reason to change my way of life. I considered myself to be as lucky, happy and fulfilled as any man anywhere and a lot better off than most. As for marriage and children, there was plenty of time for that. I had enjoyed a long succession of pretty girls in many countries; usually married ones who had not been on the lookout for a permanent lover, and whose tears at our inevitable parting had been brief enough to ensure no mascara smudges were evident when they returned home to cook their husbands’ dinner.


At the airport, I tipped the cabby well and he wished me ‘a good time when you next go to my Africa’. As Air Canada wafted me at 600 miles per hour over the huge tundra of the North West Territories, I glanced at a copy of The Ottawa Citizen. Phnom Penh was under siege and America was reeling from the Watergate scandal. I ordered the chicken and rice menu option and settled back with the newspaper.


The Aerobar Club on Montreal’s Cote Deliass Street gyrated. Aurora-like violet and green rays pulsed from ceiling strobes and caressed the writhing human carpet on the dance floor. Spilt beer and body odour doubtless neutralised any hovering pheromones, but the universal aim of most Aerobar clients was clearly sex. For the less ambitious, a dance with one of the girls cost five dollars, as did a drink or a hamburger with fries.


At the club, the local girls from Ontario and Quebec were outnumbered by professional strippers from South America and Asia. Table-dancing was in its infancy and the bar rules were not firmly established. Some girls slapped any male fingers inserted under their sequinned G-strings, but permitted the placing of dollar notes in their cleavage. And some, while rotating their buttocks over the straining laps of their seated customers, allowed their nipples to be kissed or even nibbled. Others restricted their activities to erotic sequences of table-top squirms with frequent off-putting admonishments of ‘Don’t touch me!’


A sudden scattering of chairs in the far corner of the table bar went unseen by the main mass of dancers but interrupted all nearby activities. A vicious fist fight had started between a German client and an in-house bouncer. The latter was young, bald and massive, but his middle-aged opponent, though frail-looking, moved fast and skilfully. Within seconds the bouncer fell to his knees clutching at his eyes, blood gushing from under his hands. ‘My eyes,’ he screamed. ‘I’m blind.’ Another bouncer appeared and pinioned the German. Two well-dressed men from his table, their hands outstretched in the international gesture of ‘I surrender’, assured the bouncer that there would be no more trouble. A large cash bribe was proffered, accepted and pocketed in the blink of an eye, and calm returned to the bar. The bleeding bouncer was led backstage; the naked table-girls meanwhile, had noticed nothing.


The three Germans left the club immediately and the following evening, when a Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP) Special Branch officer called at the Aerobar, neither the bouncers nor the habitual clients he questioned could recall what the three foreigners had looked like. The injured bouncer, who later lost the sight of one eye, had merely been doing his job trying to eject the customer, who according to one of the girls, had ‘put his finger up my ass’. The German had then started the fight.


The RCMP file on the Aerobar incident back in 1975, formed part of a report which I saw for the first time 18 years later in 1993. The full report, as pieced together by the authorities, covered the three Germans’ activities over a two-day period in Montreal as well as their subsequent three-week stay at a top-secret Canadian military base called Alert. A taxi had taken them from the Aerobar back to their hotel, the Dorval Hilton at Montreal Airport, and the cab driver had remembered the foreigners well due to the furious, but unintelligible tongue-lashing one of them had received from the other two. The RCMP officer who had compiled the file had included a comment for 7 February 1975: Tango One (Bendl) was presumably reprimanding Tango Three (no identity yet) for risking their whole operation by his behaviour in the club.


The report revealed that one or more of the staff at the Dorval Hilton’s reception desk was salaried by Special Branch to place certain guests in certain suites. These suites were pre-bugged on a permanent basis and RCMP-monitored. Although nothing was stated, it seemed clear to me that the RCMP knew the Bendl group’s Stasi identity from the outset. I could not tell, and presumably neither could the RCMP, whether Bendl was a real name or an alias.


On returning in a foul mood from the Aerobar outing, Bendl had placed a call from his room to a private Ottawa number which Special Branch had identified as a rented apartment used by a German diplomat who was a known agent of the Staats-Sicherheit (the Stasi), the East German intelligence network. The content of the call consisted exclusively of a supermarket shopping list; a code system unknown to the RCMP.


Their antennae quivering, the Canadians checked with the airlines and found that all three Germans were booked to fly out of Montreal on 8 February, bound for the Inuit settlement of Resolute Bay on remote Cornwallis Island, a mere 750 miles south of the North Pole. This in itself was of no consequence, but Resolute Bay was also a key airport for flights heading further north to the most isolated base in North America, Canadian Forces Station Alert. The Canadians then investigated every possible passage out of Resolute and soon found that the Germans had chartered a direct flight to Alert on a de Havilland Twin Otter from Bradley Air Services.


A hundred of Canada’s top snoopers under the command of Major R. V. Brown were manning Alert that Cold-War winter of 1974/75. They called themselves the Chosen Frozen. Only closely vetted workers were otherwise allowed to land at the base; men needed to work either on the military installations or on the Atmospheric Environmental Services station, then known as DOE, just outside the camp perimeter. The Security Branch of the RCMP screened each and every worker before giving security clearance, but Bendl and company had somehow managed to sail right through. Heads would roll.


At the time, Canada was smarting from various insensitive and protective trade moves by the USA and so was co-operating more closely with the UK’s MI6. The MI6 representative at the British High Commission in Ottawa was therefore called to a spur-of-the-moment meeting with several top-level Canadian spooks, and they offered him Bendl as a potential Stasi double agent. While he was at Alert, the Canadians would try to lure the German into turning traitor by offering him attractive financial rewards. His exact rank in the Stasi was unknown but, to be tasked with infiltrating Alert, he must be at least a senior field agent.


The MI6 man jumped at the offer, but was let down by his fellow countrymen at GCHQ Cheltenham who meanwhile had been asked by the RCMP to decipher the shopping-list code used by Bendl the previous day. GCHQ, for reasons of their own, had said they would love to help but had not yet broken that particular Stasi code system. Since the RCMP knew full well that they had, Canadian noses were put firmly out of joint and MI6 lost their unique chance of handling Bendl. All this was clear from the report, which included records of correspondence with Major Brown at Alert.


On 8 February, a duty officer at the Supplementary Radio System or ‘Suprad’ Headquarters in Tunney’s Pasture, Ottawa, sent a coded message to Alert and copies to its satellite stations at Whitehorse in the Yukon, nearby Leitrim in suburban Ottawa and way down south in sunny Bermuda. All these stations were classified top secret and hid under the title ‘direction finding units’. They passed on the information they gleaned from Soviet bloc communications to the Canadian Security Establishment in Ottawa, the UK and the National Security Agency in Virginia, USA.


That evening, Major Brown was watching a boxing match. Inside the warm and comfortable environment of the Alert officers’ mess, he and a group of young, bearded captains hooted with laughter at the antics of two great Arctic hares boxing one another on a patch of snow immediately outside the window. The mess cook daily left scraps there for the hares, and somebody had fixed up a small floodlight to illuminate the boxing ring, as Alert was still sunless for twenty-four hours a day. The hares danced about on their hind legs, more agile even than Muhammad Ali, flinging uppercuts and sharp jabs with skill and aggression.


Suprad Ops Officer Bruce Gemmil called Major Brown away to the Ops Room where he scanned the message from Tunney’s Pasture: a warning that one of three electricians scheduled to fly from Montreal to Alert via Resolute later that night was a suspected Stasi agent. Major Brown was instructed to do nothing that might alarm or tip off the German but to ensure that he would learn nothing that might be useful to the Stasi.


I had devoured the contents of the RCMP file, eager to know what had happened to Bendl all those years ago, but Major Brown’s subsequent reports had apparently been transcribed onto broadband tape and shipped south by air. High Frequency radio had not been trusted except for routine administrative communications. When I tried to trace the reports, an RCMP archivist told me they had ‘got lost’. Two years later the Canadians had installed a microwave link between Alert and the equally remote weather station of Eureka where a satellite terminal rendered broadband tape communications a thing of the past. The Brown tapes seemed to have been a casualty of technological progress.


So, in 1993, I learned that in February 1975, Bendl and his two companions had flown from Montreal to Alert via Resolute Bay, but not what subsequently happened to them nor whether Bendl became a double agent.


On 8 February 1975, I jogged from my well-heated hut down the long, straight track to Resolute Bay’s garbage dump; a half hour’s return trip was quite enough for my first post-Cambodia outing. Phnom Penh had provided few safe jogging zones away from traffic pollution and I had grown seriously unfit. My lungs objected to the –48ºC air temperature so I moved at the pace of a geriatric. I had completed brief work periods in these northern settlements twice before and had grown to respect the tough, good-humoured Inuit.


The Resolute Bay Inuit had been shipped here in the 1950s after some heavy-handed persuasion by the government. In 1953 our prime minister had been worried that a vast tract of our barren northland was in danger of being claimed by the United States. To stake a foolproof claim of sovereignty over our Arctic lands, we had needed not just the odd RCMP outpost administering great chunks of tundra but a few Canadian citizens actually living there. ‘This northland of ours,’ Prime Minister St Laurent had noted, ‘lies between the two great Cold War powers of the USA and USSR. We must leave no doubt about our active occupation right up to the North Pole.’


It soon became obvious to all concerned, that the only Canadians capable of living self-sufficiently in such hostile terrain were the Inuit. And so a dozen families, from two separate settlements many hundreds of miles to the south of Resolute Bay, were shipped north and dumped there with little ceremony. Still less concern was given to keeping the government’s initial promise to take these heroic ‘volunteers’ back home if they didn’t like it.


Government officials later claimed that the Inuit had been advised in advance what the conditions in the High Arctic would be like. But in the summer of 1953, when an icebreaker left them here with no prospect of return, it must have seemed as though they had been landed in hell. One of them subsequently told me that Resolute’s months of darkness had come as a dreadful shock. ‘The first two years were terrible for all of us. We had assumed the sun would behave as it always had where we came from. But no, it got darker and darker, and each November it disappeared entirely. We called Resolute Qausuittuq, the place of darkness. Back home there had been plentiful game to hunt on land and in the ocean, but not at Resolute. Our diet had to change and so did our traditional hunting skills. Everything was new. We were very hungry for long periods. There was no available water to drink except from the sea-ice floating in the sea which we had to collect.’


There was no love lost either between the two original Inuit clans which were settled in Resolute, and there was still some evidence of this more than twenty years later when I came to know several of them quite well. There were murders and ostracism. Teenagers were not encouraged to socialise outside their own clan, but the only other choice led more often than not to incest and a good deal of child abuse. This happens all over the world, even in well-populated cities, but as the exception rather than the rule. In Resolute, it was commonplace.


By 1975, things had improved a great deal but there was still much to be done by visiting social workers like me and, I felt, a lot of guilt to assuage, since it was my own government that had caused all the hardship in hoodwinking the families to locate here in the first place. In Africa and Asia, I had never held myself personally responsible for the plight of my temporary charges. Here it was different.


As I drew near to the garbage zone, I kept a wary eye out for the polar bears that often raided the dump when game was scarce. They could be difficult to spot even when the sky was brilliant with stars and the snowscape lit by moonlight. The moving shadows of scudding clouds added animation and menace to the stark beauty of the island.


I heard the drone of an aircraft circling above as I reached the end of the dump track. The arrival of the twice-weekly Nordair flight from Montreal, regular as clockwork when the weather allowed, was a main source of entertainment for both the Inuit from the village a mile south of the airport, and the whites, mostly civil servants, who worked in an assortment of huts clustered about the airstrip. We went to watch new arrivals or to see off departing colleagues, and also to catch up with local gossip, especially about who was sharing a bed with whom in the largely unmarried white community. In Resolute, the term ‘unmarried’ often meant that the person’s spouse was not in Resolute at the time.


I speeded up a touch on the run back and headed straight for the airport building. A light breeze made my eyes water and the tips of my ears tingle under my thin, silk face mask, but I felt good, and proud in a macho sort of way, of the frost lining on my newly grown ‘polar’ moustache.


I reached the squat green hut of the airport just as the roar of the arriving Nordair Boeing 737’s reverse thrust powered through the Arctic air, forming a dense fog all over the airstrip as the different temperatures met and moisturised the atmosphere.


In the friendly warmth of the airport lounge, a Hudson Bay Company worker who was a part-timer like me, bought me a Coke and we parked our backsides against a luggage bench.


‘The word is that the Polar Shelf people have taken on a blonde glaciologist from Toronto who goes like a racoon. She should be on this flight.’


‘You said that last week,’ I responded, but kept a sharp lookout for blonde hair as arrivals in the hall stomped snow off their feet and lowered their parka hoods.


‘Finders keepers,’ said my friend. ‘The first to speak to her gets the first date.’


‘I’ll go for the first of us that she speaks to.’ The Hudson Bay man had thick-lensed spectacles and a nose like Pierre Trudeau’s so I fancied my chances if the blonde turned up.


Three men in blue parkas and white plastic moonboots approached the coffee machine. I scanned the growing throng in the hall as the last of the new arrivals gathered by the baggage zone. No blonde. But a plump girl, looking self-conscious and vulnerable, was standing by herself. Very nice eyes, I noticed. Knowing that I was but one of at least a dozen predatorial airport vultures and that every second counted, I lurched forward from the bench, intent only on the girl with nice eyes. Pushing through a mêlée of Inuits hugging other Inuits with the happy laughter of old friends reunited, I bumped into one of the parka-and-moonboot trio, a big man.


‘Watch it!’ he snapped. As I apologised, he glanced at me.


Whether it was the sound of his slightly accented voice or the sight of his face, I will never know, but in that instant I knew that I feared him. More than fear, I felt the terror of a rabbit trapped by a snake. And an emotion very rare for me, hatred. Had I suddenly come face to face with the Devil himself, I could not have experienced a greater sense of menace than that which emanated from this unknown, yet somehow familiar, face in the crowd.


Acting entirely from instinct, I lunged out, my still gloved fist striking his mouth.


After that, I can remember only the local RCMP officer, Neal Davidge, enquiring if I felt okay. I did not. I had been simultaneously kneed in the groin and headbutted. As I recovered my senses, and realised that I was on a bench in the local RCMP prison cell, Constable Davidge warned me that I was lucky the transitee, an electrician apparently, had not pressed charges against me for unprovoked assault. Within an hour he had caught a Bradley Air charter flight north to Alert, no doubt wondering who I was and why I had assaulted him.


‘You can go home now,’ the officer told me, ‘but make sure this doesn’t get to be a habit.’


Back in my room, close by the Hudson Bay Company store, I took a hot shower and tried to work out the reason for my behaviour at the airport. I was certain that I knew the man. I was not suffering from ‘winteritis’, the term old hands used to describe the erratic behaviour of those who had been up north too long. I was clear-headed and sober. Why then, had I behaved so out of character? I was not normally aggressive; I avoided trouble. But somehow I knew the man had not been a stranger, and that could only mean one thing. He came from the blank time in my life, from my ‘life before’, which was the term Aunt Ruth used on those rare occasions when someone unwittingly broached the topic of that period.


Now, however much it upset her, my aunt must tell me everything. I must peel back the scar tissue that covered my childhood years and identify the face at the airport. Aunt Ruth was in remission, but I knew she could die any day if the cancer came back. Then there would be nobody left to tell me the secrets of my past.


When my tour in Resolute was over, Aunt Ruth welcomed me home in the same way she always had, as though I was the prodigal son. After the fatted calf, a small roast chicken, had been reduced to a carcass, she took to her chintz armchair by the oil stove and lit an untipped Camel with a wax taper. Matches were uneconomical.


‘Come on now, boy.’


‘Come on?’


‘What is on your mind, little D? I read you like a book.’ She peered at me above her bifocals through the wreaths of blue smoke. ‘Since you came back you have been like a dog that wants a bone.’


I told her about the man at the airport, but not that I had hit him, for she hated violence. I tried to describe him. ‘Maybe fifty. Powerful and tall. A face like Kirk Douglas, but cold eyes and a cold voice. Receding hair which I think had grey in it.’


She shook her head, then shrugged.


‘His eyes were cold,’ I repeated. ‘The all-seeing, no-caring eyes of a shark and his voice was harsh . . . ugly. I know that I have seen his eyes and heard his voice somewhere, sometime. I have wracked my brain for a week now and I always end up suspecting it came from the time before. Aunt Ruth, quite simply, you must please tell me everything.’


She was quiet but, for the first time that I could remember, the familiar pained look was absent. Her expression was shrewd rather than sad, appraising me.


‘Ach, neh,’ she sighed, her own particular version of ‘Oh, well.’ ‘I knew the time would have to come and you are old enough. I had thought to wait for your fortieth birthday but I may not last that long. The memories of our family must not die with me.’


She moved to put the kettle on the hob and began to talk about my mother. ‘She was my friend as much as my sister, was Anna. She never hurt anyone, but nobody was ever more sinned against. For years I wanted to see her killers crushed, to hear them scream for mercy—’ Realising what she had said, her hands flew to her mouth. I rose and held her tightly.


‘Aunt, I am ready for whatever you tell me. However my parents died, we cannot bring them back. It is worse for you as I have no memories of them, Mother or Father. Take your time, there is no hurry. I have waited this long.’


‘You wonder why? Why I have never told you? It was for your own good . . . and for my sanity.’ She sat down again and started to knit; something she always did if she was not reading, sleeping or smoking. ‘But first’ – again that shrewd look – ‘can you not remember anything?’


I smiled. ‘Only what I learned from you. Even my “memory” of Mother is an amalgam of your own stories about her. Father, you once told me, was young and handsome. I sometimes think there was a dark garden, overgrown and exciting. There may have been some kind of funny uncle-type of person who I played with. Then there were terrible things on the edge of my dreams. There still are, even now, but they never materialise into recognisable images. They are just, I heard an apt phrase on the radio lately, chimeras of dread.’


I looked at my aunt. Her needles moved furiously as she nodded. She knew about such dreams.


‘I think my first clear memory is of the ship. You held one of my hands, and Uncle Pete held the other and knelt down so I could see how grey and kind his eyes were. “This is Canada,” he said. “Our home.” There were cranes and people waving and foghorns.’


Aunt Ruth gave a little smile. ‘Yes, Halifax. 6 August 1946, a year after the bombing of Hiroshima. We arrived in heaven that day.’ She paused a while then added, ‘My friends here still ask me how I feel about Germans. It is so many years now and I believe in forgiving. I forgive everyone else. But not the Germans. There is too much, things too terrible, to forgive or forget. No, I will never buy a German shoe or listen to a German composer. I am German and I grew up knowing that we were the greatest culture in the world, the embodiment of the word “civilised”. So how come these same Germans became the most sadistic torturers in history? I saw it, I heard it, I felt it, I lived and smelled it through all those interminable years of hell. So, . . . forgive? I must leave that to you to decide once you know what they did to us.’ She looked at me sharply. I nodded: I could see her point.


‘We were chosen to survive, you and I,’ she continued, ‘just the two of us. One by one the rest of the family were taken. So why did God select us? Surely we are obliged to pay Him back, do something worthy with our lives? I have always believed my mission was to bring you up as your mother would have wanted. But a voice keeps asking me even today, what is the mission I should have been training you for? Should you find those who are guilty or should you leave them to God’s own justice? That age-old conundrum of whether to turn the other cheek, or demand an eye for an eye.


‘But my dear, you don’t know what I am talking about. Blathering away, you are thinking. The old woman has finally taken leave of her senses.’


I smiled at her and shook my head. ‘Enough of the old, Aunt Ruth. You are in your prime.’


She ignored me. ‘For all these years I have kept the darkness in here.’ She tapped her forehead. ‘Memories never fade when you want them to. They are my inner life. Whatever I do, whoever I meet, the smell of fear, the feel of suspicion, hovers in the room. Tomorrow is something to be afraid of, for it will bring betrayal and terror. Of course, in gentle Ottawa that is so much Quatsch, rubbish, but try teaching my mind that.’


My aunt seemed so tiny in her big chair, shrivelled under burdens at which I could only guess.


‘I am a survivor, Dieter,’ she said, ‘and survivors are never the same people they were before the events that nearly destroyed them. I go into Woolworths in Nepean and I see the security guard. I feel again the old fear. It is the same with soldiers and policemen, any uniforms. A sudden knock on our door, the snarl of a dog or a whistle blast. I cannot bear a blanket to be grey . . .’


My aunt called me Dieter very rarely. When we came to Canada, she had changed my name to Derek as part of her break with all things German.


‘Did you love Uncle Pete?’ Her question came out of the blue.


‘Of course. I remember him as a gentle and funny man. A natural Father Christmas who took on the job of being my father and always made both of us happy.’


My aunt smiled. ‘That’s the way I remember him too. Amazing to think it’s nearly seventeen years ago now since he went. One day life was normal and I was cooking his dinner. The next he was gone. That’s the way with heart problems.’


I held my aunt to me. We had both loved him. Uncle Pete, my patron saint, my hero figure, who had helped me with my homework, taught me to ski and play handball, who in every way was the perfect father to me from the age of six until I was nineteen.


‘I have got over it,’ said Aunt Ruth. ‘I had always prepared for the worst because as a truck driver, out in all weathers and all over North America, you never knew if he’d come back. But he was so strong. I never thought his heart would go.’ Her voice faltered.


Realising that my aunt was tired and upset, I turned the conversation to lighter subjects and no more mention was made of the past that afternoon.


The following day, slowly and in her own roundabout way, she began to tell me her life story. Aware that Aunt Ruth’s health was fragile, and that this might be the only account of my family’s history I would have, I had decided to tape her as she spoke. I placed my recorder on the table between us, switched it on and sat back.


For the past three and a half decades, I had believed I was a war orphan from a family of German Protestants killed in the great Dresden firestorms. My widowed aunt had met Uncle Pete, a truck driver with the US Army when the Allies liberated Germany, fallen in love with him and emigrated to Canada.


I had never questioned this version of my personal history. I was in for a shock.
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‘Our family had lived in eastern Germany for over nine hundred years, having arrived at the time of the Roman legions. We were Jews, but only after we were Germans.’


‘Jews!’ I interrupted. ‘We were Jews? How come we are Christians now if we were always Jews?’


‘Halt die Klappe, Dieter,’ said my aunt. ‘Don’t interrupt. I was born in 1910, and by then the family was a higgledy-piggledy muddle of liberal Jews, reluctant Jews, purely nominal Jews and a few like my father who was konfessionslos, agnostic. When he married my Protestant mother, their wedding was merely a visit to the townhall to do their bit in the book of signatures. We never went to the synagogue but I occasionally accompanied Mother to her church in Plauen, our local town.


‘On Jewish High Holidays, two dozen members of my father’s extended family would eat in our living room and none bothered with Kosher food. Religious tolerance was the number one rule and we grew up thinking of ourselves purely as middle-class Germans. The Jewish connection was incidental and unimportant to us, but settled in the Plauen area were Jews from many countries and cultures. The Jewish community, though small, was riven with contradictions, but old Manny Heimann, a fair man, was for thirty years the preacher, advisor and friend to Orthodox and liberal Jews alike. He welded the community together from a makeshift synagogue in a little room in Plauen’s Schiller Street.


‘Every Jewish family had its own rules, for they’ve always been an individualistic lot. Look at the trouble poor Moses had, and Israel today is riven with sectarian schisms. I can remember Grandpa Eli saying how common our Orthodox cousins were when they weren’t around. Most of them came from Poland and spoke Yiddish, which to Grandpa was just an ugly jargon. He, of course, was a cultured German and a poet in the land of poets. He spouted Goethe to us at the drop of a hat.


‘Nowadays, I gather, Jösnitz is growing into a suburb of Plauen, but back then we were quite isolated. We talked about the “lower village” in a snobbish way rather than geographically, for there were many hills and dales all around us, especially off towards the village of Trieb, my favourite place.’


‘Was Grandpa Eli very rich?’ I asked.


‘Ah, yes. Or so he’d have us believe. Always very rich.’ My aunt chuckled. ‘But then before the first great war the Plauen textiles trade made over a hundred millionaires, many of whom commuted out of town to and from Jösnitz. Grandpa Elimelich, ‘Eli’ for short, moved to Jösnitz in the 1860s because of the opportunities opened up by the textile industry. About ten years earlier, Spitze, embroidery, had become the big thing with manual machines sprouting like mushrooms.


‘Soon after Father was born, Plauen experienced its very own miracle. One of the machines was left untended one day and went on working without the intermediate fabric layer. Somehow it spun an almost transparent lace, similar to French tulle, and the town’s fortune was assured. Business was what mattered then. Not religion. Just about everyone was Protestant because Plauen is the heart of Vogtland and Luther’s Reformation. A few Catholics were scattered about like us Jews but, as I say, money was what mattered, not the way you worshipped God. Some of the Jews had Yiddish-sounding surnames while others were non-biblical and ultra-Teutonic like “Siegfried”.


‘I remember some of our distant Orthodox cousins wore fur hats and black frock-coats. They looked like billy goats and talked of the importance of marital dowries. There had initially been a major rift with this part of the family when Father had “married out”, but time and common sense had prevailed. My parents found them very old-fashioned but loved them nonetheless. For our part we dressed, ate, worked and thought like any fairly lax folk in that part of the Vogtland whether Protestant, Catholic or Jew.


‘Most summers, we packed our commodious leather trunks, which looked like baby rhinos, and groomed and hushed by our maid, took the exciting train ride to Norderney, one of the Fresian islands. We loved the seaside cafes with their wondrous arrays of cream cakes, macaroons and fizzy-drinks. We would play along the seafront while the grown-ups played their favourite card game of skat.


‘If my father felt any lingering Jewishness when away from his cousins, he certainly never showed it. I think he craved complete acceptance by the German bourgeoisie.


‘There were those in the village that my father warned me about. He did not mention any Jewish problems per se. I would not have understood him if he had, but he told me the tale of a cousin of his – a dark tale that spoke of envy and hatred from a clan of ill repute at the village smithy, and a brutal beating. “Keep away from the lower village, little Ruth,” my father said. And I did. For how long that hatred had simmered there who can tell, but . . .’ Aunt Ruth tapped her head. ‘It is still alive today, and when I have finished you will understand why, for you are a part of it.


‘My father followed Grandpa Eli into the textile industry in Plauen. He would come home early on Wednesdays when we had a grand family tea, and he always brought us goodies. We owned the biggest, finest grandfather clock you’ve ever seen, and when it chimed four o’clock, all we children would scream with joy and rush to the kitchen. We had plump and noisy geese in our field, and Marianne Seidler, our maid from the village, killed one every so often. She made thick schmaltz paste from the fat which was delicious on toast. Alfred, the gardener, grew apples and pears from which Grandma Tilla bottled fruit and jellies. Ah, we grew even tubbier than the geese.


‘The Kaiser told us on the wireless that Germany was the most powerful nation on Earth. Our navy, not Britain’s, would soon rule the oceans. Grandpa Eli thumped the table and raised his mug. Father, who was eligible for conscription, kept quiet.


‘Our main drawing room was quite pretentious – classical-revival in style with Biedermeier furnishings. A great many tasselled cushions littered the various sofas and armchairs and we children were forbidden to play with them.


‘Also out of bounds was the larder, a dark and fascinating room stashed with nuts, Zimmt, wine racks, sultanas, sugar, flour, and smoked meats on hooks.


‘I once saw Marianne stealing cakes from the larder. Her family was poor and lived in the lower village. I told my little brother Kurt, but neither of us sneaked to Mother for we were scared of Marianne. I had once seen her stick her tongue out at Grandma’s back and her eyes had been black with venom.


‘When not busy in the garden, Alfred took me, Kurt, and whichever young cousins were about, in the pony trap for outings. Sometimes he even took us to Plauen to watch jugglers, stilts-men and clowns in the square. My favourite was the Kasperle booth where Punch and Judy puppets squawked and squabbled.


‘Alfred was also the keeper of our winter sleigh, complete with bells that tinkled and heavy fur rugs. Each December, on the night of Chanukah, the Jewish Festival of Lights, we rode the sleigh through the forest trails. Alfred told us how wolf packs had chased his sleigh many years ago, but nobody believed him.


‘My favourite cousin, Alma, was from Mother’s side of the family. She and I grew up together and shared a love of dancing, especially the group numbers. In our early teens we adored the tango and showed off our prowess at the village dances. Marianne would be sent to chaperone us, but her eyes were mostly busy elsewhere and we learned about kissing far earlier than our other cousins who did not dance.


‘In the summer, Father took Kurt and me over the Kaltenbach stream to the forest to pick berries and mushrooms, and he showed us how the most beautiful were often the most deadly. In 1917, when I was seven and Kurt five, Father’s important job in textiles no longer barred him from military service. For eighteen months we never saw him, and then we heard he was in Plauen Hospital with shrapnel wounds. He nearly died from gas gangrene, but by my ninth birthday he was back in good health and took me to my first concert.’


‘Can I interrupt?’ I asked Aunt Ruth.


‘Why, am I boring you already?’


‘No, no. I am fascinated, but who were your non-family friends? Were they all Jews too?’


‘No, we didn’t really classify each other as Jews or non-Jews. There were Orthodox Jews in Plauen, many of whom were recent immigrants from Eastern Europe, especially Poland. I remember how we used to tease them and laugh behind their backs at their silly ways and clothes. They took themselves very seriously. Outside our school, which was run by Protestants, and at the cafés where we stopped for soft drinks and cakes, the others in my group were seldom Jews. All of us were proud Germans, first and foremost. Once, I danced with a dashing blond Catholic boy, and as I was also blonde then, I felt very much a Gentile.’


‘So, you never experienced ethnic hostility?’


At first my aunt shook her head. ‘Not until I was sixteen. Never.’ Then she hesitated. ‘Not anyway what I thought of as hostility. But twice there were times of . . . bewilderment. When I was twelve, I had my first period. I blossomed. Boys began to stare at me. My mother explained things and bought me suitable clothes. I owned a bodice before any of my school contemporaries. In a nearby village, west of Plauen, one of my schoolteachers entered four of us at the annual Schützenfest in the summer of 1923. I was voted Schützenkönigin, the youngest beauty queen on record. I was very proud and probably quite unbearable for a while, but two weeks later at the annual Jahrmarkt Fair, Kurt and I were watching the freak show in a tent when two big youths from our own village came up behind us. One twisted Kurt’s arm behind his back. The other pulled my head back by my pigtail and whispered in my ear, “You people have too much money. You think you are too good for us.” He spat in my ear, and when I screamed they quickly left the tent. Kurt told me that one of them was the brother of Marianne and came from the lower village. We told nobody. It was an isolated incident. Overall our childhood was carefree. We were lucky.’


‘And the other occasion?’


‘What other?’


‘You said two incidents . . .’


‘Oh, yes. I was about fifteen or sixteen I think, and my mother, blonde like me, took me with your mother, who was twelve years my junior, to a Passion play in Bavaria. Many German villages, not just Oberammergau, still staged them at the time. The actors playing Jews were made to look oriental in black cloaks with devil-horn hats, but what has always remained stamped on my memory was a comment at the play’s end made by a smartly dressed neighbour to her husband. “Why on earth,” she complained loudly, “do we allow these Christ-killers into our country, never mind let them run the law and the economy?”’


‘I don’t believe it.’ I found myself gripping my aunt’s shoulder. ‘Can you remember how you reacted to such open bigotry? If someone said that today in an Ottawan playhouse, most people would be disgusted.’


‘I hope you’re right,’ my aunt agreed, ‘but remember, although German anti-Semitism was rife during my youth, your mother and I, with our parochial upbringing, were entirely sheltered from its ugliness. Apart from those two little instances, the hatred passed us by. For you to even begin to understand the horrors that I must shortly describe, you must first get an idea of how Germans generally viewed the Jews.


‘Germany is at the centre of Europe, and Europe is a mainly Christian place. Not long after Christ’s death, his disciples converted the Roman Empire to Christianity, which was a major feat. But remember, Christ was himself just an ordinary Jew until he started calling himself the son of God. The Jews did not and do not believe in Christ’s revelations, and were seen as an ongoing threat to Christianity since they challenged its whole basis. So, of course Christians preached against Jews, even detested them. They shared the same Jewish Bible and the same God, but Christians believed that all Jews should move forwards, listen to Christ and metamorphose as they had.


‘However, the Jews insisted that Christ himself was not a Christian; he was born a Jew and died as one. He did not go to Mass on Sundays – he went to synagogue on the Sabbath. No one called him Father or Reverend, they called him Rabbi, and he only read the Jewish Bible. He blasphemed in a way dangerous to the Roman rulers and so the Roman Pontius Pilate agreed he should be done away with. His death was at the hands of the Romans not the Jews.


‘Every leading Christian after Christ’s death fought this Jewish version of Roman guilt. The disciples, like Matthew, left behind gospels which stamped a blood curse onto the Jews by putting into their mouths the words, “Sein Blut über uns, nicht minder, auch über unser Kinder Kinder.” His blood be upon us and on our children’s children. This Christian concept of Jews as the killers of Christ led them to promulgate hatred and destruction of Jews over the next eighteen centuries.


‘I read recently that archaeologists had found a nine-hundred-year-old silver salver in a German convent engraved with a tableau of soldiers driving Jews into a furnace. The wording on the plate was, ‘Because they reject Christ, Jews deserve Hell.’ In 1543, during the Reformation, Martin Luther preached the words, ‘Their synagogues shall be put to the fire and they shall be covered with dirt.’


‘In the Middle Ages, a time of great cruelty and violence when witches were being burned to death all over Europe, Jews were a favourite target, especially during the Christian Holy Week. During such pogroms they cowered in their blazing ghettos and hid from screaming mobs of hate-filled Christians. This bitterness against Jews was so intense and illogical that every misfortune was thought to derive from them. They were even blamed for the killer plagues of the fifteenth and sixteenth centuries which meant they were either murdered or expelled from much of Europe.


‘Anti-Semitism remained in Germany even after the mediaeval exterminations left a mere scattering of Jews there, certainly less than one per cent of the population, but for seventy years in the nineteenth century the level of hatred dropped to a mere background simmer. That was the time of my Grandpa Eli, who proudly fought for Prussia in two great wars.


‘In 1871, only one hundred years ago, Emperor William I was crowned Emperor, or Kaiser, of Prussia and modern Germany was created. Back then, Jews were fleeing to Germany from vicious pogroms in Poland and Romania. In Russia, Czarist Cossacks would target Jewish villages where they would murder and rape at will. Germany seemed a safe haven by comparison until the concept of a new German nation – the Imperial Reich – began to spread. Its advocates decreed that true Germans shared the sacred blood of the Aryan race which must never be tainted by people from Semitic tribes such as the Jews. With race as well as religion now fuelling German prejudice, the word ‘anti-Semitic’ first entered European dictionaries.


‘During the seventy years prior to the Reich’s formation, Jews like Grandpa Eli had worked hard and done well, especially in finance. Now they were feared as a group planning to dominate Germany economically, as well as being Christ-killers and non-Aryans. The wildly celebrated German composer Richard Wagner saw Jewish plotters in every nook and cranny, and proposed their extermination as far back as 1870. Popular foreign literature, like Shakespeare’s The Merchant of Venice, also villainised the Jews and helped fuel anti-Semitism.


‘When we lost the First World War, the Kaiser was given the boot and the democratic Weimar Republic was forced to kowtow to the French and British victors. We had to pay huge crippling reparations which worsened the Depression. Our nationalists and war veterans seethed with humiliation and vented their fury against the Jews, most of whom were ardent supporters of the Weimar Republic.


‘At the time, Marxism was the great expanding ideology of Europe and its most influential leaders, including Marx himself, were Jews. Fear of the Red menace, resentment at recent defeat, and rage at poverty from unemployment were all taken out on the Jews by most of the German population.’


‘What about the rest of Europe? How did they feel about their own Jews when you were growing up?’


‘By 1930, when I was twenty and had begun to show an interest in the world outside Plauen, Jews were universally unpopular but not hated. In places like America, Britain and France, Jews went about their normal business, but always with a background of hostility due to the worldwide economic crisis, ten years of unemployment and the growing threat of Bolshevism. Anti-Semitism was used by a number of governments to deflect the anger of the unemployed and underpaid at the system that was exploiting them onto the Jews.


‘Over thirty per cent of Germans were out of work, but a far lesser ratio of Jews due to the nature of the professions they had chosen. In any country, that sort of difference causes envy.’


‘But you weren’t really a Jew, Aunt Ruth. You certainly aren’t one now. You could never have looked like a typical Jew.’


‘And what is the look of a typical Jew?’


‘Well, hooked nose, black hair, black eyes, and long, lumpy features like the Greeks.’


‘If that was truly so, no Jewish woman would ever have received a marriage proposal from a Gentile! Yet in my teens, over a quarter of all German Jews were marrying non-Jews. Children of my age from mixed marriages were often blond, blue-eyed and utterly un-Jewish-looking. Father, on the other hand, had a definite Jewish air about him. “Distinguished and fine,” Mother always called him. Although he only fought for the Fatherland for a year or so, he received the Honour Cross of Front Fighters and was promoted to corporal. After the war he was always proud of his wounds. Again, I must stress to you, Dieter, we were in our hearts and in our minds proud Germans who loved our Fatherland, and our liberal Jewishness meant no more to us then than your very rare attendance at church does to you today!’


‘Sure, Aunt Ruth, I can see what you’re saying. I’m a Canadian, and a Protestant, and one of my grandfathers was a German, non-practising Jew. You are a German and a Protestant, and your German father, a non-practising Jew, had liberal German Jewish parents. All in all, I’d say we were both pretty un-Jewish. You emphasise how German we are but that we have good reason for not being too proud of our German heritage. None of this has given me a bad time, Auntie, because I’m a Canadian in here.’ I pointed a finger at my forehead. ‘And here,’ I placed my hand over my heart. ‘So my lack of any contact with Germans or with Jews macht nichts. I’m not fussed. But so far, I still have no clue about the man in Resolute.’


‘Patience, Dieter.’ My aunt sighed. ‘Your mother was the most patient person in the world. I sometimes wonder where on earth some of your more irksome characteristics come from.’


‘It’s because you jump all over the place. With all due respect, you’re difficult to follow.’


‘Okay, okay.’ My aunt’s eyebrows indicated long-sufferance. ‘I will try to be chronological. By the end of the First Great War, when my father was back from hospital, there were four of us children – me, my brother Kurt and the twins, who were born in 1916. They were frail from birth, Tomi and Toni, and this convinced Mother she should bear no more children.’


‘So my mother was a mistake?’


‘Don’t be silly,’ my aunt crooned. ‘Of course Anna was not a mistake. She just came along four years after the war to lighten up our lives. Mother must have had a brief change of family policy. Thank the Lord she did or you, my dear, would not be here.


‘But you interrupt again. When we lost the First World War, we had a revolution, threw out the Kaiser and the Weimar Republic began; a time of weak democracy which saw bloody unrest between Communists and Conservatives. The latter were mainly anti-Semitic and began to raise the temperature against the Jews all over Germany. If only the Weimar leaders had possessed an iota of prescience and constancy, but no, they were so liberal they gave the fanatics full rein to destroy all liberty for a long while in our homeland.


‘One of those fanatics, an Austrian army lance-corporal named Adolf Hitler, while wounded and in hospital on the Western Front in 1918, had a ‘vision’ that Germany’s Jews were responsible for the Fatherland’s humiliating defeat. So he resolved to exterminate them. Within a year, for he was a spellbinding street orator, he had attracted a band of talented disciples and, unimpeded by our weak government, formed his serpents’ nest in Munich with a mission of mass murder.


‘Even in 1921, anyone with their eyes and ears half open could see sinister writing on Jewish walls, to use the words of the German Jew, Albert Einstein. At that time my ears were wide open, but not for Einstein’s warnings. I was an avid reader and did well at school – one teacher called me brilliant. I was also popular and strong-willed. I called a spade a spade.’


‘Some things never change,’ I couldn’t help butting in.


‘Watch your mouth, Junge.’ My aunt’s strong, bony finger prodded me playfully. She was enjoying herself. There was nothing here to upset her, nothing she could not have told me many years ago. Perhaps sensing my impatience, my aunt settled into her chair and began to reveal the darker secrets of our past.


In 1922, your mother was born and, as the eldest sister, I spent a great deal of time with her, for our maid was then fully occupied with my poor brothers Tomi and Toni. Kurt also doted on the new arrival. Ach, neh! It’s a wonder she turned out such a truly sweet person, the way we spoiled her.


The following year I was the Schützenkönigin, the most precocious beauty queen in German history in all probability, and two months later the extremist Hitler party failed in its attempt to overthrow the Bavarian state government. State troops fortunately gunned down Hitler’s mob in Munich and slung him into prison, but the fools stupidly released him only a year later. He called his party the National Socialist German Workers Party – the Nazis. He led them with the mixture of pent-up fury and cold calculation that would later mesmerise millions. Our family should have felt a small cold wind raise the hairs on our necks on the day they let the unknown Hitler loose onto the streets of Munich.


Of course, I neither knew nor cared about Hitler. How many pretty young girls the world over waste their precious teenage days with thoughts of politics? And I was truly beautiful, though I say it myself. All the boys in the village climbed over each other to dance with me, and it wasn’t just the tango they had in mind. I could have done with six pairs of hands to keep their fingers from wandering. And I won’t say I didn’t enjoy it.


My first kiss came from a handsome Thüringen gypsy boy underneath the bridge over our local stream. But his breath smelled of goat’s cheese and his stubble raked my skin like a grinding stone. There were many others too, but I’ll not embarrass you with intimate details. My first real taste of hate came shortly afterwards.


I was sixteen in the beautiful summer of 1926, and Alfred, our gardener, had long since shown me his favourite secret place, the glade of the Schattenlosen, the folk without shadows. This fairy glade, between two streams, lay hidden deep within an old, proud forest as yet untouched by Plauen’s tentacles. No sounds from distant traffic, nor even farms, disturbed my dreaming there and youths from the village kept away because of peasant stories and superstitions. A narrow path, part overgrown, first showed its tread at the southern limits of our land and then entered the birch woods. After reaching the ödes land of scrub grazed by stock from local farms, the path swung around the village and down to the stream. Had Alfred not first been my guide, I would have missed this perfect place, where beds of soft lichen and the rock walls of miniature waterfalls framed dells of wild flowers and berry bushes.


For many months I kept Alfred’s secret all to myself, but when summer came, I felt it was a sin not to let close family and friends share such a paradise. So, on a lovely June morning, five of us left home furnished with picnic hampers and a chequered rug from Grandma Tilla. We must be back well before dark, Mother had scolded, and I must be sure to remember the twins’ medicine. The twins, ten years old at the time, were still frail and sometimes had fits. They had private tutoring at home and spoke animatedly only to each other. Like Kurt and cousin Alma, I had sworn the twins to secrecy as to the very existence of our destination. Mother knew only that the picnic would be well away from the village.


As we passed through the gorse thickets of the common land about the village, a flock of silly sheep blocked our route. We waited while a foul-mouthed farm boy cursed the animals on their way. I saw him staring back at us as we moved on but thought no more of it.


I basked in the wonderment of the others when we reached Alfred’s glade or, as I called it, my glade. All agreed that no better place for a picnic could exist anywhere on earth. Tomi and Toni took off their shoes and socks, and paddled in the cool stream. Then they sat holding hands in a mossy nook and chattered away like monkeys, pale but content. Kurt, always self-conscious in Alma’s presence, read a book and tried not to look at her low-cut blouse.


Arm-in-arm, Alma and I went for little walks, made daisychains for each other and tittered at shared gossip of current school romances. Oh, but it was a happy time, a flawless day. We stayed too long, and my ever-worrying mother back home asked Alfred to keep an eye open for us on his own way back to the village.


When the last magic rays of sunlight no longer caressed our glade and the twins grew cold, the idyll came to an end and we left.


The way home looked different in the evening light, for the morning’s shadows had reversed, disguising outward landmarks. I pressed on with caution and was rewarded soon enough with cooking smells coming from the lower village. In that place of low scrub, where the sheep had earlier delayed us, a figure suddenly loomed ahead and I screamed in shock. It was the same farmer’s boy as before but now joined, I soon saw, by four of his village friends. They moved about us, hemming us in between bushes of thorny gorse. Kurt moved close to the twins who were hugging each other in fear, but it occurred to me that he would have preferred to be offering his manly protection to Alma.
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